
TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL  

Town Hall, 24 High Street, Tenterden, Kent. TN30 6AN 
 

Website: www.tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01580 762271 

 

 

Email: townhall@tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk  
Facsimile: 01580 765647 

 

 

Tuesday, 2 March 2021 
EXTERNAL COMMITTEE 

 
Notice is given that a Virtual meeting of the EXTERNAL COMMITTEE will be 

held on MONDAY, 8TH MARCH, 2021 following meetings of the Town Council 
and Internal Committee which start at 7.00 pm. 

Zoom Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89855127726  
 
All members are summoned to attend for the purpose of considering and 

resolving upon the business to be transacted at the meeting. 

 
Phil Burgess, Town Clerk. 

 
Councillors Serving: M. Carter, J. Crawford, Mrs. J. Curteis (Vice-Chair), M. Hickmott, K. Mulholland, J. Nelson 
(Chair), R. Parkin and R. Quinton. 
Substitutes in the event of members’ absence: Cllrs Mrs. S.  Ferguson, Dr.  L. Lovelidge and Mrs. K. Walder. 
 

AGENDA 

 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE & SUBSTITUTING COUNCILLORS.  

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST.  
 

3.   MINUTES. 
To consider and, if approved, confirm and sign the minutes and reports of 
the meeting held on 8th February 2021 as a correct record. 

 
4.   MATTERS ARISING.  

 
5.   REPRESENTATION FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC. 

Members of the public may make personal representations at this meeting by giving written notice of a request to speak and indicating 

briefly the matter of interest or relevant agenda item to the Town Clerk or Deputy Town Clerk no later than 12 noon on the day of the 

meeting. Provided always that speakers are resident in a ward of the Council and, give their full name and address prior to speaking, 

the committee Chairman may (or may choose not to) invite individuals to speak at the relevant point in the meeting. Speeches may 
not exceed three minutes duration and speakers may not participate in any subsequent debate between committee members. At the 

Chairman’s discretion, only one speech may be made in support of each side of any contentious issue. 

 
6.   COUNCILLORS' QUESTIONS. 

At the Chairman’s discretion, Councillors may ask a question about any item relevant to this committee that is not on the agenda. 
Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. An answer may take the form of a direct oral answer or reference to a 

Town Council publication. Where a reply cannot be conveniently given at this meeting, an oral or written answer may be circulated at a 

later date. All councillors present will be permitted to contribute to the debate on agenda items but only members of this committee will 

be permitted to vote. 

 
7.   SUB-COMMITTEE & WORKING GROUP REPORTS. 

 
(a) Climate Change Sub-committee.  To note the report of the meeting 

held on 4th February 2021. * 

 
(b) High Street Regeneration Sub-committee.  To note the report of 

the meeting held on 11th February 2021. * 
 

(c) Sports Review.  To note the report of the meeting held on 18th 

February 2021 and the recommendations therein. * 
 (Pages 1 - 11) 

Public Document Pack

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89855127726


 

 
8.   SOLAR PANELS ON COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS. 

 

To consider supplying solar panels to commercial businesses. * 
 (Page 12) 

 
9.   KENT COUNTY COUNCIL SURVEY PRIORITIES. 

 

To consider which of the two proposed Highways Improvements should 
take place in 2021/22 and which in 2022/23 between Bridewell Lane & 

Highbury Lane one-way system and Oaks Road/Golden Square/East Hill 
improvements. * 
 (Pages 13 - 14) 

 
10.   PEDESTRIAN CROSSING AT THE SPIRES IN ST. MICHAELS. 

 
To consider a response to Kent County Council on the proposed 
pedestrian crossing in front of The Spires in St. Michaels.*  

 (Pages 15 - 19) 
 

11.   TENTERDEN LEISURE CENTRE ROOFING WORKS. 
 

To note the proposed site-set up and details for the roofing works at the 
Leisure Centre which will take place towards the end of March 2021. * 
 (Pages 20 - 26) 

 
12.   ROUNDABOUT NAMING. 

 
To consider selecting a name for the roundabout at the junction of 
Beacon Oak Road/Ashford Road and make the submission to Kent County 

Council. * 
 (Pages 27 - 29) 

 
13.   CORRESPONDENCE. 

None. 

 
14.   MINOR MATTERS. 

None. 
 

15.   ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED TO THE 

CHAIR. 
No decision may lawfully be made under this item but matters which involve no more than an exchange of information may be 

discussed. 

 
 

 
End. 
 
Attachments and tabled documents can be obtained from the Town Clerk’s office or downloaded from www.tenterdentowncouncil.gov.uk. 



TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL –EXTERNAL COMMITTEE  
 

CLIMATE CHANGE SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

NOTES OF A MEETING ON THURSDAY, 4 FEBRUARY 2021 
 
Present: P. Clokie, J. Colvin, J. Crawford, G. Gandolfo, K. Mulholland and 

R. Quinton (Chair).   P. Burgess (Town Clerk) and S. Smith (Admin Assistant) 
 

46 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Cllr. Mrs. Walder sent her apologies.  
 

47 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING. 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 10th December 2020 were 
agreed.  

 
48 MATTERS ARISING. 

None.  
 

49 SPEAKER - PHIL AUDEN. 

Mr Auden explained that he had researched available funding which had 
been circulated to the committee. Some grants were open long term and 

others were available quarterly, hence some are currently closed. He said 
that applying for grants is a very time-consuming job that needs lots of 
effort and knowledge. 

 
Mr Auden said that he had been alerted to a public sector decarbonisation 

scheme today. £15M has recently been granted to a school for an air 
source heating system.  
 

Mr Auden commented that using a fundraising consultant would be 
expensive but likely a good investment for what the committee are trying 

to achieve, and that the committee should be working in partnership with 
ABC and KCC as much as possible. He recommended having a clear 
project outline with costings and benefits. This has partly been addressed 

already and is a key starting point. He said that a grant of up to £40,000 
is available just for a feasibility study.  

 
Roger reported that he had spoken with Kate Walder who is working very 
closely with ABC’s Climate Change committee. Roger conveyed that ABC 

are extremely positive on what we are trying to achieve and may be in a 
position to help us with funding, and that KCC are currently carrying out a 

carbon footprint survey. 
Phil asked if KCC would be benchmarking the town as we would not want 

to duplicate their work.  
Ken commented that he understood that KCC were not looking at carbon 
footprint but carbon intensity, and that they were looking at the top level 

only and were unable to look at individual towns, he understood that the 
recommendation was that committees should carry on with their own 

projects. Ken also said that ABC are measuring carbon footprint relevant 
to their own properties on the back of which they received a large grant 
from the Decarbonisation Scheme.  

 
The committee will ask for written clarity on which surveys are being 

undertaken and what help they can give us.  
 Page 1

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

 
 

50 ESTIMATES FOR SOLAR PANELS ON TTC BUILDINGS 
The committee discussed the quotes received to install photovoltaic 
panels on council owned buildings.  

 
Roger explained that the efficiency of the panels has been estimated at 

86-90% efficient on the Town Hall, 90-95% on the rec. toilet block and 
90-100% on Station Road toilets and St. Michael’s maintenance facility, 
according to the direction the roofs face.  

 
Roger confirmed that all the companies have quoted for the same 

specifications.  
 
Roger commented that the recreation ground electricity bill was £20,000 

last year, this could be substantially reduced if PV panels were installed 
on the bowls clubhouse, pavilion and toilet block. It would take 8-9 years 

to cut even. 
 

Paul commented that some trees might need cutting back and that the 
quotes should be compared by the amount of electricity generated by kW 
rather than cost per panel. Paul also commented that we should be 

looking at 6 payback years rather than 8. 
 

Roger explained that the electricity generated on the rec toilets and the 
Pavilion would mostly be exported straight into the grid, whereas St. 
Michael’s maintenance facility would use it’s generated electricity for 

CCTV and floodlights and any future electrical equipment can be charged 
overnight rather than drawing from the grid. 

 
Roger explained that a feeding tariff used to pay for all electricity 
generated whether you used it or exported it, but now only for what you 

export. A power wall battery system could be installed in some locations, 
these are roughly 3 foot by 4 foot by 10 inches in size.  

 
John commented that a business case should be drawn up.  
 

Phil commented that funding through ABC needs further investigation.  
 

Roger will make further enquiries regarding batteries and payback time.  
 
 

 
 

 
 

51 RECYCLING AREA AT THE BACK OF THE LEISURE CENTRE. 

Phil explained that the recycling area at the rear of the Leisure Centre 
would benefit from being enlarged by purchasing the strip of land that lies 

between the waste facility and Sandy Lane. The strip of land is prone to 
flooding and would require drainage, but this would expand the 
compound and facilitate bigger lorries for the composting scheme, where 

ABC will drop off free compost into the compound and we will supervise 
residents collection. Any more than 15 tonnes will require expansion into 

Page 2



 

the land next door.  
 

Phil has had no response from the owner of the land but will try again.  
 

52 EMAIL FROM CLAIRE NORMAN. 
The email update from Claire Norman at ABC was noted. 
 

Roger commented that behind the Leisure Centre would be an ideal area 
to place recycling bins if we are successful in purchasing the strip of land.  

 
53 HOMEWOOD SCHOOL RECYCLING FACILITIES. 

This item will be carried over as Kate was unable to attend the meeting.  

 
54 ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS APPLICATION TO KCC. 

The committee noted that any new EVCP’s would be in ABC car parks and 
that we would not be making our own grant application. 
 

John requested that Tesco are contacted to get clarification on the type of 
EVCP’s they intend to install in their car park. 

 
The committee discussed whether residents of High Street properties 

might be able to charge electric vehicles whilst parking on the High Street 
or whether it would be necessary to park in car parks overnight. John 
commented that he has asked the question at the KCC conference for 

three years running now and each time has been advised that it is being 
looked at.  

 
55 E-ON RENEWABLE ENERGY CERTIFICATE. 

The renewable energy certificate for the Pavilion was noted. 

 
Roger asked when work will start on the re-ordering and the Pavilion will 

be flattened and rebuilt, Phil replied that planning was expected to go in 
by early March. Phil advised that bat and newt surveys will need to be 
carried out.  

 
56 SOLAR PANELS - OLD DAIRY BREWERY BUILDING. 

Roger explained that he attended a recent Carbon Neutral Zoom meeting 
and one of the councils had entered into such an agreement with their 
local brewery.  

 
Jo commented that this could possibly work with any company in the High 

Street.  
 
Phil commented that from a legal perspective we are allowed to create a 

business provided we are not in competition with anyone else in the 
town. As this hasn’t been done yet we should be fine.   

 
John commented that a business case will need to be drawn up.  
 

Ken asked how Tenterden Social Hub had funded theirs, Phil informed the 
committee that Tenterden Town Council topped up a grant they had 

received and that the hub was now producing nearly all their own energy 
needs.  
 

57 RECYCLING OF PERSONAL TECHNOLOGY DEVICES. 
Roger commented that it would be good to provide bins for recycling 

Page 3



 

technology devices as there are many unused devices in people’s homes.  
This could go alongside other recycling bins once agreement is reached 

with ABC on where they should be sited.  
 

 
58 WATER POINTS OUTSIDE COUNCIL BUILDINGS. 

Phil advised that a pilot water point at the recreation ground was installed 

pre coronavirus and was well used, although it is currently disconnected 
due to the pandemic. It is worth investigating further points at Station 

Road toilets and St. Michael’s toilets.  
 

59 TTC SPRING NEWSLETTER 

Phil commented that using recycled paper for the next newsletter is 
already in hand.  

 
Roger commented that the committee’s aims and proposals will be 
included.  

 
60 WASTE MASTERCLASS 

Tracey Butler from ABC will be invited to hold a Waste Masterclass at our 
next meeting.  

 
61 DATE FOR NEXT MEETING. 

The next meeting will be held 25th March 2020 at 4pm. 

 
62 ANY OTHER BUSINESS. 

Jo commented that the Civil Society Zoom conference on transport will 
take place on 25th February 2021 at 5pm. 
 

Page 4



TENTERDEN TOWN COUNCIL – EXTERNAL COMMITTEE  
 
HIGH STREET REGENERATION SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
NOTES OF A MEETING ON THURSDAY, 11 FEBRUARY 2021 
 
Present: M. Bartlett (TDCC), A. Bates (TDRA), M. Carter (Chair), P. Clokie 
(ABC), Mrs. S.  Ferguson, M. Freeman (Resident), Mrs. K. Nolan-Lyons (Town 
Centre & Tourism Co-ordinator) and R. Quinton.  Mrs. C. Gilbert (Deputy Town 
Clerk) took notes. 
 
In Attendance:  Cllrs. C. Knowles, Dr. L. Lovelidge and K. Mulholland. 

36 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 
Cllr. Mrs. J. Curteis, Ms. E. Ditton and Cllr. J. Nelson. 
 

37 MINUTES. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12th November 2020 were approved. 
 

38 MEMBERSHIP OF SUB-COMMITTEE. 
 
Mr. A. Bates of the Tenterden & District Residents Association and 
resident Mr. M. Freeman were both co-opted onto the Sub-committee.  
Both Mr. Bates and Mr. Freeman signed their acceptance of the Town 
Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

39 CONCEPT DRAWINGS OF TENTERDEN HIGH STREET. 
 
The format for latest drawings which will be sent to Kent County Council 
(KCC), Kent Highways and recommended partners for their views before 
going to public consultation were discussed. 
  
Cllr. Mike Carter queried why the concept drawings are confidential.  The 
Deputy Town Clerk Claire Gilbert explained that it was agreed by the 
External Committee that the drawings could go to KCC first for their 
views, and then to public consultation once fed back to the Town 
Council’s External Committee.  Cllr. Sue Ferguson commented that the 
drawings must contain the wording ‘concept’ when sent to KCC and asked 
Cllr. Paul Clokie how ABC consulted with KCC when they required works 
to be done.   Cllr. Clokie confirmed that the proposals are sent to KCC 
first and then ABC sought funding for the costs.  Matt Freeman reported 
that documentation must state that these are concept drawings and not 
definitive plans; they are ideas and should not be construed as a master 
plan.  Matt, who produced the drawings, requested comments from 
Committee members before they are sent off.   
 
Alan Bates had a number of comments, but highlighted that he agreed 
with the wider pavements for seating.  Alan was concerned that by 
creating four zebra crossings in the high street, it gives pedestrians the 
priority as soon as they put their foot on it and, knowing the way people 
cross the road, it could have a significant impact on traffic.  Zebra 
crossings are now not as visible as they were when first invented due to 
street lighting and lights from businesses.  The roundabouts would 
probably take more space than allowed for in the drawings, so this would 
need investigating. 
  Page 5



 

Cllr. Clokie reminded members that the A28 is the main road from 
Margate to Hastings and is a connecting road; KCC will be more 
interested in traffic movement than pedestrians so zebras crossings could 
be an issue.  
 
Cllr. Roger Quinton reported that when looking at the sizing of the 
roundabouts, they would have to be the same size as the one Redrow 
were currently installing at the Beacon Oak Junction; they cannot be the 
type that are painted directly on to the road.  Alan reported that there is 
a 169-page document on the design of roundabouts and this confirms 
that they cannot be painted on type for the volume of traffic that runs 
through the Town.  The minimum size of a roundabout is 28m in diameter 
(absolute minimum) and then the transitions.  
 
Mike Bartlett reported that there needs to be a document sent with the 
drawings explaining what we are trying to do and why.  Mike Carter 
agreed and stated that it would need to include the reasons for the 
changes to the high street, i.e. outside seating, etc.   Sue suggested 
including a couple of paragraphs with an overview of the concept 
drawings.   
 
Mike Bartlett and Mike Carter agreed to draft the document to accompany 
the drawings and bring this back to the Sub-committee for approval.   
Mike Carter asked how the process will happen with KCC; Claire reported 
that the drawings will go off to KCC as agreed by the External Committee 
and then the response will be fed back to both the Sub-committee and 
External Committee.  
 
Alan reported that it would be helpful to send some form of 
measurements with the drawings.  Matt reported that the software 
follows ordnance survey maps so the current images are to scale. 
 
Sue reported that it would be helpful to see how the new Beacon Oak 
Road roundabout looks when it is finished as this design could be useful 
elsewhere; Mike Bartlett agreed and if it is produced similar to that of 
William Harvey Hospital’s, that would be helpful.   
 
Roger raised his concerns that with the Beacon Oak roundabout included 
as well, there would be a total of five roundabouts in the town, which 
would be overkill.  Mike Carter suggested that we wait and see what KCC 
says and the Town Council may have to engage Transport Engineers on 
how to tackle the proposals in the future. Cllr. Clokie asked if Matt could 
double check that the roundabouts do fit in the proposed areas given the 
28m measurement required and add the scales as well. 
 
Mike Carter thanked Matt for producing the drawings.   
 

40 SOCIAL MEDIA FOR BUSINESSES. 
 
Keli Nolan-Lyons reported that she has been working with ABC and the 
Economic Development Team in particular with regard to the launch of a 
new platform.  Keli’s relationship with ABC has made sure that Tenterden 
has been secured involvement and included in the process.  Keli reported 
that businesses really need to up their game with regard to social media 
following extensive research Nationwide with the importance of the digital 
to physical process and ABC have chosen a platform to move the project 

Page 6



 

forward.  Funding is available for 1,000 businesses across Tenterden and 
Ashford to guide them over a year for free.  The cost is normally £1,140 
per business.   
 
The idea is to completely support businesses for a year on all social 
media; it provides a reward scheme and is a great platform to use. From 
social media aficionados to complete beginners, there are self-led 
courses, 121 support and weekly webinars with updates on social media 
trends and promoting best practice. It provides easy to use tools and 
insights to help businesses better understand their online audiences, how 
to reach more customers and make more sales.  
 
This idea forms part of High Street Regeneration for Tenterden. Keli will 
update the Committee at the next meeting, but this proposal is huge 
support for Ashford and Tenterden businesses coming out of the 
pandemic.  With this assistance, after a year businesses can continue or 
stop if they are happy and feel more confident.   
 
Mike Carter asked how can businesses register for the programme.  Keli 
reported it is a very strategically carried out roll out process.  Ashford and 
Tenterden will select a small group of businesses initially to begin the 
process before expanding into the whole programme. It will soon be 
rolled out to tourism and hospitality businesses too. 
 

41 FOOTFALL COUNTERS & PARKING. 
 
Keli reported that the idea of Tenterden having a footfall counter has 
been discussed before and not pursued as they are extremely expensive.  
Keli had attended a ‘Springboard’ seminar where they reviewed 2020 and 
made predictions for 2021.  Springboard is one of the biggest providers of 
footfall counting in the Country; it would cost around £10,000 for the first 
year and a large ongoing upkeep if Tenterden were to pursue this.  Keli 
very much felt that to a degree, we need to drive the footfall and spend 
money achieving that rather than counting it.  Keli had asked High Street 
businesses before lockdown about them helping with footfall counting.   
 
Keli reported that she felt this Committee needed to concentrate on what 
is going to happen this Spring/Summer when hopefully businesses will 
start to reopen.  She is hopeful that there will be staycations and we need 
to be ready for that.  Many of the businesses will need outdoor space and 
we need to see how we can help them to tackle this issue; Keli queried 
whether the Town Council could think about tables, seating or marquees 
so that there can be an overspill for businesses.  This could be either onto 
the footpaths or onto the Recreation Ground.  Claire reported that 
currently the Town Council is not considering events running on the 
Recreation Ground in May due to attracting large numbers of people. 
 
Sue reported that we need to encourage more of the shops to have their 
own footfall counters and she knows that Fat Face and Tenterden House 
Interiors have their own.  Sue had read an article about local authorities 
making outside space available for cafes and restaurants.  However, KCC 
had already denied using the layby outside of This Ancient Boro’. 
 
Roger reported that as the reordering of the Recreation Ground is 
hopefully going ahead later this year, it would not be ideal to dedicate the 
only part of the green space available to the public over to businesses for 

Page 7



 

outside space.  With discussions taking place over the Town Council 
possibly taking on one or more of the town’s car parks, Roger suggested 
that it would help if a car park was free or at least free for a few hours to 
encourage footfall.   Cllr. Callum Knowles reported that if the Town 
Council did consider  taking on one or more car parks the cost 
implications would need to be investigated to see if it was possible. It is 
not definitely going to happen, but will be fully investigated.   
 
Callum reported that there were the 100 car parking spaces coming up 
available on Tent1a; all the parking bays have been marked to show 
where you can park in preparation for the adoption of the Restricted 
Parking Zones.  Alan reported that 25 parking bays extra were being built 
into the leisure centre reconfiguration and about 50 around the Tent1a 
development.  Callum felt that there is an asset which should be 
advertised to businesses in the town in order for their workers to have 
somewhere to park not far from the high street.  It was agreed that Claire 
and Callum would check the number of spaces available on Tent1a.  Sue 
reported that by advertising the parking on Tent1a, it will share the load 
from the other over used estates around the town.   
 
Keli asked again if there was any way that come Spring and Summer this 
year businesses could be helped to find more outdoor space.  Sue 
reported that some businesses would not be able to manage it even if 
they had the option, i.e. tables on the Recreation Ground.  However, the 
greens opposite some businesses are useful places.  Mike Carter reported 
that the only space that could be utilised is from NatWest bank down to 
near the Vine and then extend other areas out.  It was suggested that 
this issue could be raised at the next External Committee meeting to see 
if any more ideas were forthcoming.  Sue reported that if use was made 
of the existing barriered areas, there would need to be heavy 
infrastructure in place to protect people.   
 
Recommendation to External Committee:  consider how to assist 
businesses on reopening to take full advantage of high street space.   
 

42 SOUTH & SOUTH EAST IN BLOOM 2021. 
 
It was noted that the Town Council is applying to take part in the South & 
South East in Bloom competition this year.  There will be the usual 
display of hanging baskets throughout the Town but also additional 3-
tiered planters and additional colour in the current flower beds 
throughout the Town.   
 
Claire reported that five additional planters will also be placed on the 
South side of the High Street stretching from Montalbano down to just 
past the War Memorial.  Claire reassured the Committee that whichever 
planters are chosen for the greens, they would be visually appealing.   
 

43 ANY OTHER BUSINESS. 
 
(a) Localise App.  Mike Bartlett asked what had happened to the 

Localise app.  Keli reported that she had chased them up to see 
how it was going.  They were doing technical tweaks to the app 
and as it is an app based on footfall, it maybe they have held back 
due to the pandemic.  Keli reported that it would sit in line with the 
Maybe platform as well and she will chase this up.  Sue reported 

Page 8



 

that Localise was still not live yet and reported that the Maybe 
platform will be in direct competition with Localise on the rewards 
scheme.  It was agreed that Keli would update non-council 
members of the Sub-committee on the ‘Maybe’ proposal. 

 
(b) Speed Limit.  Sue reported that at a previous meeting the idea of a 

20mph speed limit through the town was briefly discussed.  Sue 
wanted the Committee to be aware that KCC are currently in the 
middle of a consultation and rollout for reduction of limits for 
Faversham & Tonbridge.  The consultation ends on 3rd March for 
these towns and it would be a good idea for us to keep an eye on 
the outcome.  The Order is to encourage walking and cycling and 
improve the area.  Sue agreed to forward the report to Mike 
Bartlett and Mike Carter for inclusion in the accompanying report to 
KCC regarding the concept ideas.   
 

(c) Hydrogen Buses.   It was queried whether we had written to Jo 
Bamford (Wrightbus owner and JCB heir) regarding hydrogen 
buses; Claire was unsure where we were at, but will look into it.  
Cllr. Clokie suggested lobbying KCC into using the buses.  

 
Sue reported that there is a huge overlap on some of the tasks that 
the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group and High Street 
Regeneration Sub-committee are carrying out.  Sue was keen to 
find a way of interlinking.  Mike suggested sending the concept 
drawings to the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Committee at the 
same time as they are sent to KCC for their input.  

 
44 DATE OF NEXT MEETING. 

 
Thursday, 11th March 2021 at 6pm.  It was suggested that an ABC Officer 
be invited to come along to look at installing ANPR parking at Bridewell 
Lane car park.    
 

Page 9



 
Sports Review – Minutes 

 
Meeting at 10.00 p.m. Thursday 18th February 2021 by Zoom. 
 
Attendees:  
Tenterden Town Council: Cllrs Mike Carter, Ken Mulholland, Alan Sugden, & Justin Nelson. 
Football Representatives: Steve Parker & Graham Smith. 
Ashford Borough Council: Cllr Paul Clokie (Chair) joined meeting late 
KCC: Cllr Mike Hill  
In attendance: Town Clerk, Phil Burgess (Minute taker). 
 
1. Apologies for absence. Len Mayatt & Simon Harris (ABC), Mark Seymour TST and Cllr Kate 
Walder TTC. 
 
2. Election of Chair. Cllr Mulholland was elected chair. 
 
3. Minutes of the last meeting. Minutes of the previous meeting were agreed. 
 
4. Matters Arising. None apart from those addressed in minutes 
 
5. Football Provision.  
a) Section 106 An update on the section 106 provision for the Homewood School 3G was 
given by the clerk. In all £275,000 is due to the school from Tent1a provision and £257,000 
has so far been paid. The remainder is due shortly. This constitutes half the end cost and a 
£40,000 contribution towards maintenance. Cllr Carter suggested that signage should 
appear on site to indicate co-funding of the 3G by TTC ABC and Homewood. 
 
b) Shelter provision at 3G. Two bus shelters had been offered by TTC to Homewood but 
despite reminders no arrangements had been made to install them. Cllr Nelson pointed out 
that the shelters were only needed for community sessions and not for the school. Cllr 
Carter agreed to approach Vincent Reidy with whom he has regular site meetings. If this was 
not successful TTC should write an official letter asking for reason for refusal to install.  
 
c) Pitch Equivalence. The Clerk stated that at the time the 3G S106 funding was agreed, it 
was dependent on both a robust community use agreement and the FA confirmation that 
the 3G was an acceptable equivalent to the recreation ground pitch. That confirmation was 
delegated to the Kent County FA. KCFA visited site and confirmed that they were satisfied 
with the provision. Graham Smith disputed this as the pitch was smaller than full size. 
Confirmation awaited from ABC. The group agreed that we needed to ensure that the 
relevant ABC officers were present at the next meeting to resolve this issue and also to 
advise on potential pitches on Tent1b and/or Hopes Grove (Nursery site) in the future. Both 

Page 10



Graham Smith and Steve Parker re-iterated the footballers’ opposition to removal of the 
recreation ground pitch. 
 
d) Offers of Land.  
i) Smallhythe Rd Plot The offer of land next to the Cricket club had now been withdrawn by 
the landowner. In any case FA funding would have been unlikely with the provision of only 
two pitches. 
ii) Tent1b Again this offer had been withdrawn. It may be feasible as a requirement of the 
S106 agreement perhaps in tandem with Hopes Grove Nursery should that site come 
forward. 
 
e) Cllr Mulholland enquired about the Tigers. Graham Smith has now stepped down from 
the chairmanship role. The Tigers use the 3G and also play at Rolvenden where the pitches 
are well-drained and of good quality. They have a partnership with Charlton who provide 
coaching at the 3G. 
 
f) Cllr Mulholland also enquired whether pitches had been raised as part of the 
Neighbourhood Plan process. Graham replied that they were on the Section 106 “wishlist” 
for future developments. 
 
g) Appledore Rd pitches. The committee agreed that these pitches would have been ideal 
but were now, of course, tied in with the Wates plans for Limes Land. Graham Smith and 
Steve Parker would try and have dialogue with Homewood and Cllr Nelson felt that the only 
way to unlock this situation was to talk to Wates and we should approach council to grant 
permission for talks on a restricted level. Meanwhile, non-councillor members of Sports 
Review were prepared to open discussions with Homewood and Wates. 
 
6. Other Issues 
Cllr Nelson reported that the Leisure Centre (TLCT) was still in a state of flux. The roofing is 

going ahead but the operating structure generally is still in discussion. The Trust is prepared 

to have a wider remit (including over the administration of the recreation ground, if 

required) which would facilitate grant funding applications.  

7.  Recommendations to Council.  

• Signage should be erected at the Homewood 3G to publish the funding support from 
TTC and ABC. 

• The Clerk should send an official letter to Homewood if no response from them 
regarding the shelters within a reasonable time frame 

• Allow sports review to talk to Wates within specific restrictions and potentially other 
landowners (Tent1b and Hopes Grove) with the blessing and participation of ABC 

• Invite relevant planning/S106 staff to next meeting 
 
8.  AOB.  None 
 
9. Date of Next Meeting. TBA in 6 weeks’ time – preferably at 5pm 

Page 11



External Committee 8th March 2021 
Solar Panels on commercial buildings 

 
 
Please see the attached minutes for the climate change committee (specifically minute 56). 
 
I thought it best to expand on the principle of supplying solar panels to commercial premises. 
 
Cllr Quinton has already spoken to the Old Dairy Brewery who are interested in the scheme as a 
pilot, provided they obtain agreement for PV installation from their landlord. 
 
This scheme would favour those businesses who do not have the capital to invest in solar panels and 
who would, of course, benefit from a lower electricity unit rate. Particularly in the case of a high-
consumption business such as brewing. 
 
Whilst the payback for the council would not be as fast as on TTC’s own properties (the saving there 
would be at the higher rate per KwH) it is nonetheless a viable prospect. 
 
TTC could also take advantage of any grant assistance available and interest free loans are currently 
being offered which allows flexible repayments purely from the power re-sold to the grid. 
 
As an illustration, if the normal rate per KwH is 14p for instance, TTC could offer it to businesses at 
12p per unit (a saving of almost 15% to the business). Any unused power would be sold back to the 
grid by TTC for around 5p per unit so clearly, heavier power users would bring a quicker return on 
investment. 
 
This is a complex proposal, but it allows TTC additional income, improves business profitability and 
achieves a greener town. Figures will clearly differ depending on the business and would need to be 
considered on an individual basis. 
 
As the council has the General Power of Competence, legally it is able to enter such agreements as a 
business function provided it is not in competition with other local suppliers. 
  

Proposal: That the agreement is approved in principle as a pilot scheme, subject to 
satisfactory comprehensive cost analysis and agreement from all parties. 
 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : Significant 
Budgetary Impact  : Profitable 

Page 12

Agenda Item 8



External Committee 8th March 2021 
KCC survey priority 

 
We currently have two live Highways Improvement Plans (HIPs), both of which have been 
registered and accepted by KCC. The Bridewell/Highbury one-way system and the oaks 
Rd/Golden Square/East Hill situation. We have agreement to fund both surveys. 
 
I have attached below correspondence to the admin team from the KCC highways engineer 
responsible for our area. 
 
The crux of this is that only one project will be surveyed within the 21-22 year, the 
remaining one will be scheduled for 22-23. 
 
We have been asked to decide on priority. 
 
To summarise the position on these issues: 
Bridewell/Highbury  

 Residents have been canvassed and a strong majority is in favour of a one-way 
system (polling 35 for 6 against) 

 Businesses have been canvassed and there are no objections 

 Agreement has been received from Highbury Hall trustees 

 Agreement has been received from UKPN (sub-station access at the end of Bridewell 
Lane.) 

 Some negotiations are still required with ABC over access to the car park, but early 
signs are positive 

 
Oaks Rd/Golden Square/East Hill 
3 options were referred to KCC for consideration: 

 Blocking of Oaks Rd at its Junction with East Cross A28 and a one-way system around 
Golden Square and East Hill. Oaks Rd and roads to the south (Elmfield etc) would be 
access only. 

 One-way system around East Hill and Golden Square with a pedestrian crossing 
between East Cross Gardens and the Recreation Ground. Oaks Rd to remain open to 
two-way traffic. 

 Pedestrian Crossing on Oaks Rd. All 3 roads to remain two-way 
 
Proposals: That a decision should be taken on the priority of the above HIP requests 
 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : Survey costs already agreed 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



Your email seems very promising following your original proposal submission and I thank 
you for the time and effort that you have put into this following our correspondence on the 
subject. 
 
I believe this is definitely a scheme that we can take forward on behalf of the Town Council 
should they wish to proceed to an initial design and formal consultation phase subject to the 
Town Council’s agreement to fund the delivery of this scheme (we will provide a fee estimate 
for you once you have confirmed provisional agreement to proceed). 
 
We do have a current request in place from the Town Council to review the traffic flows in 
the Golden Square, Oaks Road and East Hill and prepare a report on proposals to change 
this area to a one way system and provide a new pedestrian crossing on Oaks Road. To this 
end we have recently commissioned a traffic survey on these roads to assess the viability of 
the proposal whilst the temporary traffic management is in place for the construction of the 
new roundabout.  
 
Your current “live” Highway Improvement Plan is attached for your information and I have 
added both requests and updated the notes on Bridewell Lane for your records. 
 
We are only able to progress one scheme per year for Town and Parish Council’s due to 
limited staff resource. Therefore, as a council you will need to decide which of the two 
schemes is a priority for the forthcoming financial year? 
 
Whilst we would likely be able to deliver the report for Oaks Road and the design and 
consultation and possibly delivery of the Bridewell Lane scheme we would not be able 
resource both projects through design and delivery within the coming financial year.  
 
Please can you discuss with Phil Burgess and members of the council and let us know how 
you would like to proceed with deliver of both projects? 
 
 

Page 14



External Committee 8th March 2021 
Spires Pedestrian Crossing 

 
 
I have attached the notification of a KCC consultation regarding the proposed pedestrian crossing 
near the Spires on Ashford Rd, St Michaels. This has long been a trouble spot and a difficult area to 
cross the main road. 
 
The detailed plan of the signal-controlled crossing appears on Page 4 of the attached document. 
 
I will respond to the consultation on behalf of the council with any agreed response from the 
meeting and from planning committee dated 1st March. 
 

Proposals: That any points agreed at the meeting be included in the council’s response to 
the consultation. 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : Minor 
Budgetary Impact  : None  

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



 
 

 
 

Proposed Signal Controlled Pedestrian Crossing  
A28 Ashford Road, St Michaels, Tenterden 
 

Public Consultation 16 February to 15 March 2021 

 

What are we proposing to do? 
Kent County Council (KCC) are consulting on a proposal to install a new signalised pedestrian 
crossing on the A28 Ashford Road outside Spires assisted living residential premises. 
 
Why are we proposing to do this work? 
There is currently a non-signalised pedestrian crossing outside Spires. This crossing does not 
provide adequate crossing facilities, that meet the Disability Discrimination Act mobility 
standards, for vulnerable and mobility impaired users due to the steep incline to access the 
crossing point on one side. There is no footway provision on the west side of the Ashford Road to 
link Spires with local shops and Tenterden town centre. Pedestrians and other non-motorised 
users are therefore required to cross the Ashford Road outside of Spires. 
 
A new signal-controlled crossing will give pedestrians sufficient time to cross the road safely 
whilst traffic is held. It will be designed to meet current national standards in line with Department 
of Transport guidance for the provision of pedestrian crossing facilities.  
 
This scheme supports the delivery of KCC’s Active Travel Strategy, which aims to make active 
travel (walking or cycling as a means of transport) an attractive and realistic choice for short 
journeys in Kent. This scheme provides a safer, more accessible and well-planned way for 
people to complete their journey by walking.  
 
What will the scheme involve? 
The scheme would involve removing the current traffic island crossing and replacing it with a 
‘Puffin’ crossing. This is similar to a ‘Pelican’ crossing in that pedestrians push a button on a 
control box when they wish to cross the road, which changes the lights. Puffin crossings have 
sensors attached to the signal pole, instead of a timer. These sensors can detect whether any 
pedestrians are on the crossing and ensure that the lights for traffic do not change until all 
pedestrians have finished crossing the road. 
 
To locate the crossing in the safest place, it would be necessary to construct the new crossing to 
the north of the current uncontrolled crossing point by approximately 30 metres. The existing 
hedge which currently screens the footway and Spires from the road will need to be removed as 
part of the scheme to establish adequate sight lines for both pedestrians and motorists. We will 
replace the area where the hedge is currently located with a new paved footway area to improve 
space for pedestrians when accessing the new crossing. 
 
A copy of the proposed scheme plan can be viewed at the end of this document. 
 
 
 

Page 16

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/transport-and-highways-policies/active-travel-strategy


 
 

 
 

Proposed Signal Controlled Pedestrian Crossing  
A28 Ashford Road, St Michaels, Tenterden 
 

Public Consultation 16 February to 15 March 2021 

To help ensure that we are meeting our obligations under the Equality Act 2010, we have 
undertaken an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) on this scheme. This is to assess the  
impact our proposals could have on people due to their protected characteristics (age, sex, 
gender identity, disability, race, religion or belief, sexual orientation, pregnancy or maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership and carer’s responsibilities). The EqIA is available to view at 
kent.gov.uk/a28tenterdencrossing or on request. 
 
The scheme would deliver positive impacts by providing a safe place to cross, which will benefit 
pedestrians of all ages. Dropped kerbs at the crossing with red tactile paving will particularly 
benefit disabled pedestrians, those using wheelchairs and those with buggies or prams.  
 
During the works, alternative routes will be provided for pedestrians with barriers and ramps for 
those with visual and mobility impairments as required and in accordance with industry 
standards.   
 
No adverse effects have been identified however the EqIA will be updated after the consultation 
to consider any relevant information received.    
 
How will this scheme be funded? 
This scheme will cost approximately £75,000 and will be funded from KCC’s Local Transport 
Plan fund, which provides grants for schemes that help fulfil key transport priorities within the 
county. 
 
Have your say 
We would like to give you an opportunity to let us know what you think of this proposal and 
we invite you to complete the consultation questionnaire, which is available on our website 
kent.gov.uk/a28tenterdencrossing. 
 
If you have any questions regarding these proposals or require hard copies of any of the 
consultation material, please email traffic.schemes@kent.gov.uk or call 03000 41 81 81. 
Please use the reference ‘A28 Tenterden Crossing’ to identify the scheme.   
 
The closing date for this consultation is midnight on Monday 15 March 2021. 
 
Next steps  
Following the consultation, a report will be compiled summarising the analysis of the 
responses. This report will be made available to consultees via the consultation webpage. 
The consultation responses and EqIA will be used to inform the decision on whether to 
proceed with this scheme.  
 
 

Page 17

http://kent.gov.uk/a28tenterdencrossing
http://www.kent.gov.uk/a28tenterdencrossing
mailto:traffic.schemes@kent.gov.uk?subject=A28%20Tenterden%20Crossing


 
 

 
 

Proposed Signal Controlled Pedestrian Crossing  
A28 Ashford Road, St Michaels, Tenterden 
 

Public Consultation 16 February to 15 March 2021 

If the decision is taken to proceed with the scheme, construction will take place in Summer 
2021. Before any construction takes place Start of Works notices will be delivered to local 
residents and placed on site. These will advise you of when the works will start and any 
changes to the highway that may arise during construction. Large advance notice boards will 
also be placed on site to advise passing motorists of the works. 
 
Alternative formats  
If you require any of the consultation material in an alternative format or language, please 
email alternativeformats@kent.gov.uk or call 03000 42 15 53 (text relay service number: 
18001 03000 42 15 53). This number goes to an answering machine, which is monitored 
during office hours. 

Page 18

about:blank


 
 

 
 

 

P
age 19



External Committee 8th March 2021 
TLC Roofing Works 

 
 
I have attached the proposed site-set up and details for the roofing works which will take place 
towards the end of March.  
 
Liaison with the officers at ABC has ensured that access to our waste facility on the Leisure Centre 
car park will not be impeded throughout the works there. 
 
I understand that although ABC plan to install photovoltaic panels on the roof, this will be 
undertaken at a later date as a funding application is in progress. 
  

Proposals: Information only 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : None  

Page 20

Agenda Item 11



 
 
 
 

Tenterden Leisure Centre Site Set Up Plan - 

 

 

The site office and welfare will be set up in the coach 

bays within the rear of the car park. 

Heras fencing will provide security 

Access will be kept free at all times for the ground’s 

maintenance team 

Skips will also be behind heras fence within the 

compound 

 

 

 

 

The footpath on the north elevation will be closed for 

the duration of the works to allow for contractor 

movement of materials and plant. 

A loading bay will erected on the corner of the N&W 

elevation to allow for materials to be brought and 

onto the roof. 

The grassed area will be protected. 

Signage displayed to denote walkway closed to the 

public. 

 

 

Fencing will be erected on the east elevation 

The footpath will remain open with the rear car park 

to the centre fenced off due to scaffold erection and 

lay down area for materials. 

Gate access will be provided to the car park along 

with statutory signage. 

 

Page 21



 
 
 
 

 

 

Heras fencing will be erected on the footpath. The 

footpath will remain open until such time as 

scaffold is required on this elevation. 

Before the scaffold is erected the footpath will be 

moved out into the road under local pedestrian 

barrier and priority traffic signals. 

Signage will be displayed. 

 

 

Scaffold will be erected along side the canopy 

wings and bridged over the entrance to the 

centre. Access to the centre will remain open at 

all times. 

The scaffold will be erected to allow for persons 

to access beneath and protection measures and 

signage will be displayed. 

The parking bays at the front of the centre will be 

within our heras fence for delivery drop off for 

materials required on the east west elevation. 

 

 

Extreme care and attention will be paid and monitored of public activity within the vicinity of the 

centre. 

Deliveries will be carefully managed and co-ordinated with other construction activities nearby. 

All deliveries will be over seen by a competent banksman. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Denotes location for scaffold loading bays that will be erected during scaffold works to each of 

the respective elevations. 

 

 

 Location for mobile crane if required – TBC. 

Crane operations will be carried out under a contract lift. 

Page 23



 
 
 
 

 

 

Ground’s maintenance teams compound area in the north east corner of the car park. This will 

have clear access at all times. 

 

Area to be kept free of construction activity. 

 

 

Walker Construction site office and welfare set up. 

Site inductions and daily signing in will be conducted here. 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Emergency muster point within our compound area. 

Persons evacuating the building via the fire escapes will be directed through our site to a point of 

safety 

Register will be taken to account for all staff working on the site. 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Footpath will be extended out onto the carriageway whilst scaffold erection and roofing works are in 

progress on the south elevation. 

This will be managed under local traffic management arrangements with pedestrian barrier provided 

for the public along with signage displayed. 

These works will be notified in advance and will not commence until satisfactory approvals have 

been granted permissions. 

Page 26



External Committee 8th March 2021 
Roundabout Naming 

 
 
With the building of the roundabout at the Beacon Oak Road/Ashford Road Junction, the 
Town Council put a callout to residents on ideas for formally naming the roundabout.  We 
have received 52 direct responses via email or letter and 21 responses on the Town 
Council’s Facebook page.   
 
We have shown all names in the attached file with the top two suggestions highlighted.  
Currently the one which received the highest vote is ‘Beacon Oak’ and it is suggested that 
this name be adopted.     
 
 
Proposal:   To confirm the most popular name for the roundabout and apply to KCC for the 
naming. 
 
 
 
 
Phil Burgess 
Town Clerk 
 
Impact on Crime and Disorder : None 
Impact on Bio-diversity  : None 
Budgetary Impact  : £124 street naming fee 

Page 27

Agenda Item 12



Roundabout Naming Suggestions via communication with the Town Council

Suggested Name Direct Contact or TTC Facebook Totals

Appledore

Arthur Whitlock

Avallon Facebook

Beacon Hope

Beacon Hope

Beacon Oak Beacon Oak - 10 votes

Beacon Oak

Beacon Oak

Beacon Oak

Beacon Oak 

Beacon Oak 

Beacon Oak Facebook

Beacon Oak Facebook

Beacon Oak Facebook

Beacon Oak Facebook

Ben Hammond

Bernard Matthews

Buggati Facebook

Burnt Oak

Colin Deverell

Covid-Oak 

Drury

Elizabeth II

Gordon Oak

Gordon's Oak

Gordon's Oak

Homewood

Homewood 

Homewood 

Hopley

Hopley

Hopley

Imposed Facebook

Invicta

Jubilee Jubilee - 6 votes

Jubilee

Jubilee Facebook

Jubilee Facebook

Jubilee Facebook

Jubilee Facebook

Jubilee Oak

Jubilee Oak

Jubilee Oak

Linden Oak Facebook

Long Time Coming Facebook

Magic

Maxon

Magic Facebook

Magic Roundabout Facebook

Mr. Arthur Whitlock

Noel Benson

Noel Benson

Oak Tree

Oaks

Peter Hopley

Queens Oak

Page 28



Roundabout Naming Suggestions via communication with the Town Council

School

Sir Tom Moore

Sir Tom Moore

Tenterturn Facebook

The Hopley 

The Roundbout Facebook

The Sinden 

TOM

Tommy Bear Goldsmith

Tommy Bear Goldsmith

Tom Moore Facebook

Two Wents Facebook

Victoria Oak Facebook

Victoria's Oak

Weald Oak

Weeks 

White Elephant Facebook

Page 29


	Agenda
	7 SUB-COMMITTEE & WORKING GROUP REPORTS.
	EXT7b High Street Regeneration Sub-committee minutes 11th February 2021
	EXT7c Sports Review Minutes 18th February 2021

	8 SOLAR PANELS ON COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS.
	9 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL SURVEY PRIORITIES.
	10 PEDESTRIAN CROSSING AT THE SPIRES IN ST. MICHAELS.
	EXT10 Spires Crossing Consultation

	11 TENTERDEN LEISURE CENTRE ROOFING WORKS.
	EXT11 TLC Site Set Up Plan

	12 ROUNDABOUT NAMING.
	EXT12 Received Roundabout Names




